THE FLQFUDA BAR,

Complainant,

CASE NO. 71,886

v.

CHRISTOPHER R. FERTIG,

Respondent.

/

	The Florida Bar Case No. 86-20,258(17A)	
'IG,		
t.	NOV 15 1938	Ċ
/	CAMER, MANNE COURT	P
INITIAL BRIEF	OF THE FLORIDA BAR	

JACQUELYN P. NEEDELMAN Bar Counsel The Florida Bar Cypress Financial Center 5900 N. Andrews Avenue, #835 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33309 (305) 772-2245

JOHNT. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286

#

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an attorney disciplinary proceeding conducted under the Rules Governing The Florida Bar.

A formal complaint was filed against the Respondent on February 8, 1988. On the same date, The Florida Bar's Request for Admissions was also filed. On February 24, 1988, the Honorable Sidney B. Shapiro was appointed Referee by the Supreme Court of Florida. On March 23, 1988, this matter was scheduled for final hearing to be held on June 24, 1988.

On May 6, 1988, Respondent submitted his notice of taking deposition of Michael Powell.

On May 9, 1988, The Florida Bar filed its objections to Respondent's Request for Production of Documents, based upon verbal notification of said Request for Production.

Respondent filed his Answer and Affirmative Defenses and responded to The Florida Bar's First Request for Admissions on May 9, 1988.

On May 10, 1988, Respondent filed his Request to Produce. On May 11, 1988, a hearing was held before Judge Shapiro on The Florida Bar's Objections to Respondent's Request to Produce and the Referee sustained The Florida Bar's objections in an Order dated May 19, 1988.

On May 11, 1988, The Florida Bar filed its response denying Respondent's affirmative defenses.

On May 10, 1988, Respondent filed his Request for Admissions. The Florida Bar filed its Response to Respondent's Request for Admissions on May 16, 1988.

On May 24, 1988, The Florida Bar filed its notice of the taking of the deposition of Christopher R. Fertig.

The final hearing in this cause was held on June 24, 1988. Bar

-1-

Counsel advised the Referee that Staff Counsel and Bar Counsel of The Florida Bar recommended that the discipline in this cause be suspension for a period of six (6) months and that the recommendation of the Designated Reviewer of The Florida Bar was for suspension for a period of sixty (60) days.

The parties subnitted memorandum of law. On July 20, 1988, the Honorable Sidney B. Shapiro, Referee, submitted his Report finding the Respondent guilty of the rules indicated in the complaint, Florida Bar Integration Rule, article XI, Rules 11.02(3) (a) and 11.02(3) (b). The Referee recommended that the Respondent be suspended for a period of twelve (12) months with no proof of rehabilitation required.

The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar, at its meeting which ended September 30, 1988, voted to file a petition for review requesting that the discipline in this cause be suspension for a period of ninety (90) days. The Florida Bar filed its petition for Review in this Honorable Court on October 17, 1988. Respondent subnitted his Petition for cross review on October 19, 1988.

The Florida **Bar's** complaint concerned Respondent's nolo contendere plea to an Information for violating the Racketeer-Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (TFB EX. 1). At the final hearing, The Florida Bar introduced into evidence copies of sworn statements given by Respondent on August 14, 1984, August 16, 1984 and August 20, 1984, admitted as TFB's Exhibits 2, 3, and 4 respectively. In said statements Respondent admitted his active involvement in a money laundering operation for a drug Smuggler, **one** Jerry Smith.

As to Florida Bar's Exhibit 2, The August 14, 1984 statement, The Florida Bar specifically points out the following statements made by the Respondent under oath:

-2-

(a) Page 38, lines 8 through 20, wherein Respondent acknowledged he received cash fran Jerry Smith and he knew what Jerry Smith was doing.

(b) Page 39, Lines 22-24, Respondent referenced an unspoken understanding.

(c) Page 55, line 6 through line 22, regarding Respondent knowing that boats were being used as dope boats.

(d) Pages 57-58, regarding Respondent's boat being used for marijuana.

(e) Page 58, line 23, through page 59, line 23, concerning bringing cash to the Bahamas and bringing back checks.

(f) Page 60, line 25 through page 62, line 25, regarding bringing mre than 5,000 in cash to the Bahamas on two (2) or three (3) occasions.

(g) Page 67, line 5, through page 68, line 25, wherein Respondent admitted that at the time he started receiving cash, he knew that said cash came from Jerry Smith's illegal drug smuggling enterprise, and that the purpose of Respondent performing these tasks was to hide the ownership and source of the funds.

(h) Page 69, line 10 through page 70, line 9, wherein Respondent admitted again and acknowledged that he took drug mney to a foreign country to hide the source and ownership of the money and that he knew the mney's source was fran a drug enterprise.

(TFB's Ex. 2).

As to Respondent's August 16, 1984 statement, The Florida Bar's Exhibit 3, The Florida Bar specifically points out the following:

(a) Page 18, Line 8 through page 22, line 18, concerning Respondent's negotiation of a purchase of a marina for Jerry Smith with

-3-

Jerry Smith's drug money.

(TFB's Ex. 3).

As to Respondent's August 20, 1984 statement, The Florida Bar's Exhibit 4, The Florida Bar specifically points out the following:

(a) Page 11, line 18, through 24, wherein Respondent acknowledged he had to have known by April-June 1979 that Jerry Smith was a drug smuggler. At about this same time, Respondent borrowed money from Jerry Smith (see Composite Exhibit 5 and T. 37-42).

(b) Page 17, line 3, through page 20, line 7, concerning cash being taken to the Bahamas to hide its source.

(c) Page 23, line 23, through page 24, line 6, wherein Respondent acknowledged he received cash from Jerry Smith's dope smuggling business.

(TFB's Ex. 4).

The Referee found in pertinent part the following:

4. Respondent attempted to explain his actions and dealings with Jerry Smith which actions were clearly criminal in nature. (TR, 30-51).

5. There is no question but that based upon the evidence presented, Respondent is guilty of violating the Code of Professional Responsibility and specifically those rules indicated in the complaint.

(See Report of Referee, Findings of Fact, PP 1-2).

The Referee further found as follows:

I recommend that the Respondent be suspended for a period of twelve (12) months. Contrary to Rule 3-5.1 (e), Rules of Discipline, based upon further observations of the undersigned, I recommend that no proof of rehabilitation be required. Mr. Fertig has in the past several years conducted himself in a manner which has convinced the undersigned that he is now totally and completely rehabilitated. The recommendation for discipline is made for a two-fold purpose - for punishment for the acts committed and as a deterrent to others. The actions of *Mr*: Fertig were extremely serious. He has mitigated these actions by cooperating with authorities and turning his life around since he committed these illegal acts. It is based upon these considerations and mitigating factors that a suspension is recommended as opposed to disbarment. (P. 2, Par. IV, Report of Referee.

The Respondent presented character witnesses at the final hearing.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

### I. THE DISCIPLINE TO BE IMPOSED IN THIS CAUSE SHOULD BE SUSPENSION FOR A PERIOD OF NINETY (90) DAYS.

The Board of Governors of The Florida **Bar** determined that the mitigating factors presented by the Respondent justified a reduction in the discipline recommended to be suspension for a period of ninety (90) days. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Pettie</u>, 424 So.2d **734** (Fla. **1983)**, The Respondent's cooperation with law enforcement agencies justified a reduction in the recommended discipline.

The Referee stated in his report that he was recommending suspension as opposed to disbarment because of the rehabilitation demonstrated by the Respondent, his cooperation with authorities and turning his life around since his commission of the illegal acts. (P. 2, Report of Referee, Par. IV.)

Due to the length of **time** since the misconduct occurred and the rehabilitation found by the Referee, The Florida Bar submits that a ninety (90) day suspension will be sufficient in this cause.

-6-

#### ARGUMENT

## I. THE DISCIPLINE TO BE IMPOSED IN THIS CAUSE SHOULD BE SUSPENSION FOR A PERIOD OF NINETY (90) DAYS.

The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar determined that the mitigating factors presented by the Respondent justified a reduction in the discipline recommended **to** be suspension for a period of ninety (90) days.

Case law definitely supports a suspension in this matter. In <u>The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Pettie</u>, 424 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1983), the Respondent was suspended for a period of one (1) year in light of his voluntarily initiated contact with law enforcement agencies and cooperation with them, including risking his life.

In this case, Respondent assisted regarding forfeitures and Respondent testified that he felt he was in danger wherein he helped locate someone. However, Respondent acknowledged that he was first contacted by police officers in this matter. (T. 50).

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Lewis</u>, 145 So.2d 875 (Fla. 1962), the Respondent attorney was disbarred for fraudulently concealing the assets of a bankrupt estate. In the instant case, Respondent similarly helped conceal illegal drug money.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Beaver</u>, 248 So.2d 477 (Fla. 1971), the Respondent was suspended for one (1) year for counseling his client to secret assets to misrepresent his client's financial condition and allowing his client to deposit money in his trust account for that purpose. The instant Respondent's conduct involved money laundering for illegal drug smuggling activities and Respondent personally helped carry out the activities.

In The Florida Bar v. Carbonaro, 464 So.2d 549 (Fla. 1985), the

Respondent was suspended for three (3) years for a conviction of conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute cocaine wherein there existed mitigating factors and wherein he demonstrated a potential for rehabilitation.

The instant Respondent has also established mitigating factors.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Melvin R. Horne</u>, Case No. 70,932 (July 7, 1988), the Respondent was disbarred for misconduct involving money laundering.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Meros</u>, **521** So.2d **1108** (Fla. **1988)**, the Respondent was disbarred for convictions for drug and racketeering offenses.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Lord</u>, **433** So.2d **983** (Fla. **1983**), the Supreme Court stated that Discipline must serve three (3) purposes:

(1) First, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing penalty. (2) Second, the judgment must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. (3) Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations (citations omitted) <u>Id</u>., at 986.

Respondent testified concerning mitigating factors and clients testified concerning their need and preference for the Respondent's representation. Additionally, an **important** factor is to deter other attorneys **who** might be tempted to engage in similar unethical and illegal activities.

In November 1986, The Florida Bar's Board of Governors approved Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. The Florida Bar submits that the following standard is relevant in this cause: 5.12 Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in criminal conduct which is not included within Standard 5.11 and that seriously adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice law.

Respondent's good behavior subsequent to his criminal misconduct is certainly noteworthy and justifies why The Florida Bar is not seeking a disbarment or lengthy suspension.

The Referee stated in his report that he was recommending a suspension as opposed to disbarment because:

(1) The Respondent in the past several years conducted himself in a manner which convinced the Referee that he is totally rehabilitated; (2) the recommendation for discipline is made for a two-fold purpose – for punishment for the acts committed and as a deterrent to others. The actions of Mr. Fertig were extremely serious. He has mitigated these actions by cooperating with authorities and turning his life around since he committed these illegal acts. (P. 2, **Report** of Referee, Par. **IV**).

At the final hearing Respondent presented the testimony of clients and a Circuit Court Judge **who** has known the Respondent in his legal career and personally.

Respondent's nolo plea to the criminal charge took place on April 1, 1986. The criminal misconduct occurred between March 1, 1978 and April 28, 1983. (TFB Ex. 1.)

Due to the length of time since the misconduct and the rehabilitation found by the Referee, The Florida Bar submits that a suspension for a period of ninety (90) days will be sufficient discipline in this cause.

-9-

#### CONCLUSION

For the Above stated reasons, The Florida Bar respectfully requests this Honorable Court to uphold the Referee's findings of fact, impose a discipline of suspension for a period of ninety (90) days and have execution issue against the Respondent in the of \$2,003.01 for the costs incurred by The Florida Bar in this proceeding.