# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

CASE NO. 71,886

V.

The Florida Bar Case

No. 8620,258(17A)

CHRISTOPHER R. FERTIG,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT AND RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON CROSSPETITION FOR REVIEW

> ROBERT C. JOSEFSBEKG 801 City National Bank Bldg. 25 W. Flagler Miami, Florida 33130

DONNA E. ALBERT 750 S. E. Third Avenue Suite 200 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316

LANCE THIBIDEAU 901 South Federal Highway Suite 300 Fort Lauderdale, FI 33316

##

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The initial brief of The Florida Bar "in support of a 90-day suspension" of Respondent is replete with inaccuracies and misrepresentations of facts and law.

The brief submitted by the Bar advocating a reduction to a ninety (90) day suspension is almost identical to the Memorandum of Law filed by the Bar in the lower Court in support of a six month suspension. No new arguments are made by the Bar now that it is advocating a reduction to ninety (90) days, nor are any cases cited reflecting the change in the Bar's position.

Although the Bar correctly advises this Court that the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar determined that the mitigating factors presented by the Respondent in this case justify a reduction in the recommended discipline, its argument is neither persuasive nor sincere. Had counsel intended to persuade this Court, surely counsel would have explained that the Board's decision was predicated upon many mitigating factors, all of which lead to the inescapable conclusion that this case has been a travesty of justice since the beginning.

The argument suggests that the only options available in this case are either a lengthy suspension or disbarment; the tone of the entire brief is set by this misleading representation. Had Bar counsel intended to follow the instructions given by the Board of Governors, surely counsel would have argued that in the past, where mitigating factors have been present, this Court has ordered public reprimands as well as sixty and ninety day suspensions in cases involving more egregious misconduct than in the instant case.

Although this purports to be a brief urging review, Bar counsel neglects to mention that the Referee's Report was erroneous, unlawful and unjustified, thereby requiring reversal. We are certain the Bar is unaware of any authority standing for the proposition that punishment for punishment's sake is either acceptable or appropriate, yet the issue is never addressed.

The Summary of Argument fails to mention the Referee's finding of total and complete rehabilitation on the part of Respondent. Also missing is a convincing argument that many mitigating factors led to the Board of Governor's conclusion that the Referee's recommendation was entirely too harsh. (Bar counsel apparently would have this Court believe that the Board of Governors arbitrarily overrode the recommendation of the Referee in this case.)

Finally, although a cursory review of the Bar's brief by one unfamiliar with disciplinary case law in this jurisdiction might lead to the conclusion that the brief actually supports a ninety day suspension, careful scrutiny of the cases cited by the Bar, as well as those omitted, demonstrates that Bar counsel never intended to persuade this Court to impose a ninety day suspension. In fact, the Bar brief fails to cite a single case supporting the Board of Governor's position. Rather than arguing or even calling this Court's attention to cases where a rehabilitated Respondent is suspended for a period of ninety (90) days or less, the brief repeatedly cites cases involving disbarment. This omission is not due to a shortage of case law where mitigating factors have played a significant role in reducing discipline.

Contrary to the Referee's opinion and the Board of Governor's determination that suspension without rehabilitation is appropriate in this case, the initial brief cites only seven cases, each of which impose a disciplinary action requiring proof of rehabilitation; and three of which impose complete disbarment. The brief ignores the abundance of case law which would have supported the Bar's argument for reduction of discipline. It ignores the mitigating circumstances which form the basis for the Board of Governors' determination. It ignores the total and complete rehabilitation of Respondent and the impropriety of imposing punishment for punishment's sake. It ignores the fact that in all of the cases cited in its initial brief, the Referee made a finding that the Respondent had knowingly and wilfully engaged in the proscribed conduct. In the instant case there was no such finding by the Referee. This distinction is obvious and important.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.
THE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES
OF THIS CAUSE DO NOT WARRANT
SUSPENSION.

The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar determined that the mitigating factors presented by the Respondent justified a reduction in the discipline recommended to a suspension for a period of ninety (90) days. The mitigating factors (notably excluded from the Bar's initial brief) include:

- the total and complete absence of a prior (or subsequent) disciplinary record;
- the absolute absence of a dishonest or selfish motive;
- personal and emotional problems brought upon by threats relating to Respondent's life and safety, as well as the safety of his family;
- Respondent's repeated efforts to rectify the consequences of misconduct;
- Respondent's full, free and cooperative disclosure to all investigating authorities;
- Respondent's inexperience in the practice of law;
- Respondent's exemplary conduct prior to and since the misconduct resulting in the support of both the Bench and the Bar;
- Respondent's excellent reputation for **truth** and veracity as well as quality legal representation;
- the inordinate delay by the Bar in bringing these proceedings;

- the imposition of other penalties or sanctions including the years of suffering,
- extreme remorse on the part of Respondent; and,
- the undisputed total and complete rehabilitation of Respondent.

The Bar's assertion that case law requires a suspension in this matter is misleading (IB-7). While we agree that in the absence of so many mitigating factors suspension might indeed be supported, under the facts of this case are primand would certainly suffice. See, the <u>The Florida Bar v. King</u>;, 174So.2d 398 (Fla. 1965), where this Court ordered public reprimand instead of disbarment due to mitigating factors; and the <u>The Florida Bar v. Welch</u>, 272 So.2d **139** (Fla. 1972) where this Court **imposed public reprimand** and probation in lieu of a three year suspension recommended by Referee **notwithstanding Respondent's previous disbarment.** 

The Bar's citation of <u>The Florida Bar v. Pettie</u>, 424 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1983) is inappropriate under the circumstances, especially in light of its attempt to distinguish same from the instant case. Although <u>Pettie</u> could have and should have been argued in support of mitigation and leniency, it was not. While Pettie and the Respondent in the instant case both voluntarily cooperated with law enforcement in an effort to undo the damage done by their misconduct, the Bar argues that Pettie initiated this conduct while Respondent sat back waiting for law enforcement to find him. Although not supported by the record, the inference created is that the sanctions in the instant case should be more severe than those in Pettie's case, based on a theory

of non-initiation. (The Referee made no such distinction, and found that Respondent had cooperated fully with authorities and turned his life around (RR-2).

The evidence in this matter clearly demonstrates that Respondent went well beyond the bounds of normal cooperation in attempting to locate the drug smuggling Jerry Smith who had by then become a fugitive. In addition to telling all he knew and participating in an undercover operation, Fertig on his own initiative and with his own funds hired a private investigator to find the fleeing felon. **As** a consequence of these activities, Fertig lived in reasonable fear for his life and safety, as well as that of his wife and four children . There is no reason to believe the threat of violence or retaliation by Smith and his cohorts has passed.

The Bar neglects to mention that many of the mitigating factors present in Respondent's case were not present in <u>Pettie</u>. For example, Pettie was an experienced attorney, having practiced law for almost twenty (20) years. Fertig was inexperienced; his lack of experience was a substantial factor in his involvement in this nightmare.

In <u>Pettie</u>, the Referee made a specific finding of fact that Pettie **knowingly** assisted in the smuggling conspiracy. No such finding was made in Fertig's case.

Pettie never disputed his **knowing involvement** in the drug smuggling operation, nor his substantial complicity in the scheme to import and distribute 15,000 pounds of cannabis. Pettie never claimed he was set up and never denied actual

knowledge of the true purpose of the operation. In Fertig's case, the opposite is true.

Although it remains unclear to what degree Pettie profited by his actions, it is clear that Fertig did not profit at all.

Where Pettie is helpful in Respondent's case, the Bar's interest inexplicably wanes and it completely ignores same. No mention is made of this Court's pronouncement that engaging in illegal conduct is not the same as engaging in dishonest conduct. We are mindful of this Court's pronouncement that the concepts of dishonesty and illegality are not co-extensive. Much that is dishonest is not illegal; much that is illegal is not dishonest. Pettie at 737. This theory applies under the facts of both Pettie and Fertig, yet the Bar completely fails to present the argument. While the Referee has determined that Respondent's participation in the criminal acts was illegal, he has never been charged with lying, cheating, fraud or untrustworthiness. While Fertig's acts may have been illegal, they were not dishonest.

In <u>Pettie</u>, this Court reiterated the well-established concept that it is appropriate in determining the discipline to be imposed to take into consideration circumstances relating to the incident, including cooperation and restitution. The instant case, like <u>Pettie</u>, is clearly atypical and, given the unique facts of the case, requires special consideration, We cannot imagine that the omission of references to any helpful portion of the <u>Pettie</u> opinion was an oversight on the part of the <u>Petr.</u> The fact that Pettie was suspended for one year rather than disbarred does little to support the Bar's recommendation of a ninety (90) day suspension.

Nothing whatsoever in the Bar's brief urges this Court to impose a ninety (90) day suspension in the instant case. In fact, it clearly argues for disbarment. In another case cited by the Bar, The Florida Bar v. Lewis, 145 So.2d 875 (Fla. 1962), the Respondent was disbarred after being convicted of fraudulently concealing the assets of a bankrupt estate, for which he was sentenced to five years imprisonment. No mitigating factors were discussed in this Court's opinion, nor were any of the facts germane to this case. The Bar's assertion that in the instant case, "Respondent similarly helped conceal illegal drug money" (IB-7) is patently offensive.

In the instant case, Respondent's conduct can hardly be described as fraudulent. As distinguished from the instant case, in <u>Lewis</u>, the issue of whether Respondent knowingly participated in criminal activities was never a factor. Although it would have been well within the scope of his authority, the Referee declined to make a finding of fact that Respondent Fertig participated knowingly. In the instant case, the Referee found as a matter of fact that Fertig had been totally and completely rehabilitated. We are uncertain as to how or why <u>Lewis</u> found its way into the Bar's brief in this matter as it is completely irrelevant and inapplicable to the facts at hand.

The Florida Bar next cites the case of <u>The Florida Bar v. Beaver</u>, 248 So.2d 477 (Fla. 1971). In <u>Beaver</u>, Respondent was suspended from the practice of law for one year for deliberately counseling his client to secrete assets in order to misrepresent his financial status in a divorce action. Beaver filed no answer to the Bar's Complaint. He did not appear at the final Bar hearing and no evidence was presented in his defense. In fact, Beaver exhibited a total disdain for these proceedings. Unlike the instant case, in <u>Beaver</u> there was absolutely no evidence whatsoever that Respondent

had been rehabilitated. In fact, Respondent was adjudicated incompetent and was committed to a state hospital under the division of mental health during the pendency of these proceedings.

There was no assertion by Beaver that he was **an** unwitting participant as was Fertig. None of the mitigating factors present in the instant case were present in Beaver. Once again, we are offended by Bar counsel's statement that "Respondent's conduct involved money-laundering for illegal drug smuggling activities and Respondent personally helped carry out the activities (IB-7)." This statement is calculated to mislead this Court erroneously to the conclusion that Respondent Fertig knowingly played a major role as **a** drug smuggler. In fact, there has never been the slightest suggestion that Fertig himself was in any way involved with drugs, that he has ever used drugs, or that he was anything less than appalled when he discovered the true purpose of the operation with which he had become unwittingly involved. There was no finding by the Referee that Fertig participated knowingly. Beaver is neither germane to the instant case nor persuasive under this set of facts.

In support of The Florida Bar's brief purportedly urging a ninety (90) day suspension of Respondent, Bar counsel next cites the case of <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> Carbonaro, 464 So.2d 549 (Fla. 1985), where the Respondent was suspended for three years after being convicted of conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute cocaine after pleading guilty to the charges. In the instant case, Fertig never pled guilty and continues to maintain his innocence. Fertig pled nolo contendere as a plea of convenience in an effort to put this matter behind him. He was repeatedly assured that a plea of nolo was not tantamount to a guilty plea. The Bar rules in effect at the

time supported this position. Additionally, Fertig entered the plea under duress; in fact, Fertig never heard the charges prior to appearing in Court to plead nolo to them. Although Carbonaro was young when the offense was committed, and he evinced a desire to rehabilitate himself, the case is readily distinguishable from the instant case in that there was no finding of Respondent's rehabilitation when Bar discipline was imposed.

Further, although it is undisputed that Fertig was a pawn in someone else's scheme, Carbonaro was clearly the architect of his own destiny. Finally, in <u>Carbonaro</u>, the Bar urged disbarment.

After Bar counsel cites <u>The Florida Bar v. Horne</u>, 527 So. 2d 816 (Fla. 1988), not a single effort is made to distinguish the <u>Horne</u> case from the instant case. The Bar merely sets forth that Horne was disbarred for misconduct involving money laundering (IB-8). In <u>Horne</u>, Respondent was sentenced to **five** (5) **years' imprisonment** after being found guilty of various drug-related activities including money laundering and intentional tax evasion. The Referee described **Horne's dealings as being fraught with dishonesty, misrepresentationand fraud.** The Referee further found that

"the entire scheme Horne was involved with was to do **anything but the right or lawful act.** This conduct on the part of Horne constituted illegal conduct of **moral depravity.**" <u>Horne</u> at 430. (Emphasis Supplied)

There was no evidence whatsoever that Horne was rehabilitated at the time of these proceedings. There is no evidence of any mitigating factors in the record. **The** Referee's Report urging Horne's disbarment was not contested by the Bar or by

Horne. In the instant case, while Fertig's conduct was described by the Referee as being serious, no finding of moral depravity, dishonesty, misrepresentation or fraud was made. That the Bar should compare Chris Fertig to Melvin Horne is insulting and outrageous.

Next, in what can only be termed sabotage, the Bar cites The Florida Bar v. Meros, 521 So.2d 1108(Fla. 1988). The Bar's inclusion of this case in support of a ninety day suspension is incredible as Meros was sentenced to forty (40) years in prison after having been found guilty in Federal Court of at least thirteen (13) counts of drug and racketeering activities. We are shocked by the inclusion of this case and wonder how the disbarment of Meros, a felon sentenced to prison for forty (40) years, was meant to be persuasive authority in support of a ninety day suspension for Respondent, Meros is readily distinguishable from the instant case as it is obvious that Meros, among other things, defrauded an agency of the United States by trick, scheme or device with total knowledge and intent.

# THE PUBLIC INTEREST WILL NOT BE SERVED **BY** THE IMPOSITION OF ADDITIONAL PUNISHMENT.

The disciplinary process has evolved to protect the public interest, not to punish the lawyer. This Court recently reiterated that attorney disciplinary proceedings are not for the purpose of punishment, but rather seek to determine the fitness of **an** officer of the Court to continue in that capacity and to protect the Courts and the public from the official ministration of persons unfit to practice. Thus, the real question at issue in a disciplinary proceeding is the public interest and the attorney's right to practice a profession imbued with public trust. The Florida Bar v. Jahn, 509 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1987); State v. Rendina, 467 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1985); In Re: Echeles, 430 F.2d 347, (7th Cir. 1970); and Ex parte Wall, 107 U.S.265 (1882).

Bar disciplinary proceedings are remedial, not punitive; they are designed to determine the lawyer's fitness to practice so as to protect the public, **not to punish** the lawyer in question. State v. Rendina, supra at 736, citing: Segretti v. State Bar, 544 P.2d 929 (1976); In re: March, 376 N.E.2d 213 (1978); Maryland State Bar Association, Inc. v. Suparman, 329 A.2d 1 (1974); In re: Connaghan, 613 S.W.2d 626 (Mo.1981); Anonymous Attys v. Bar Ass'n of Erie Cty, 362 N.E.2d 592 (1977) and, In re: Daley, 549 F.2d 469 (7th Cir. 1977).

The question of Fertig's fitness to practice was addressed in the disciplinary hearing. **Judge J. Cail Lee testified** that he was familiar with Fertig's reputation in the community (T. 71) and that "he has an excellent reputation in every respect

insofar as I'm aware." (T. 71) Judge Lee further testified that it was his "sincere view that Chris is of the highest character." (T. 72) When asked by the Referee whether the community would be in any way harmed by Fertig's continuing to practice, Judge Lee responded:

"Absolutely not, Sir. In the entire time I have known him, Judge, this is the only single bad word, if you can call it that, I have ever heard expressed against him or any problem that I have ever been aware of... He is considered to conduct himself in an absolutely appropriate fashion." (T.78, 79)

In response to the Referee's inquiry as to whether there would be an impact on Fertig's clients in the event of a suspension, Judge Lee responded "...I don't see how it could but hurt the clients that he represents..." (T.79).

Further, John Wiederhold, a prominent local attorney, testified that Fertig's reputation is "one of high moral standard and high ethical standards" (T. 127). Wiederhold testified that in his opinion Fertig's

"legal ability is excellent. He is a formidable opponent: honest, trustworthy...And, I might add, an honest---very honest opponent. He is very ethical." (T. 128).

Finally, in response to the Referee's inquiry as to whether there would be **any** negative impact on the State of Florida or the Bar if Fertig were not suspended, the witness testified "absolutely not" (T. 128).

Jerry Pascoe, a well-known local marine surveyorand insurance adjuster, opined he was familiar with Fertig's reputation in the community and "in my opinion, it is a very high reputation" (T. 64). Regarding Mr. Fertig's integrity, Pascoe testified that:

"everything that I have seen that he has demonstrated has been the highest principles and integrity ... I am not remiss in saying that he, in my opinion, has one of the highest principles and moral standards in this community..."

Phil Spucci, Assistant Vice President for Scor Reinsurance, testified that **Mr.** Fertig "seemed to be straight and narrow" (T. 87), had an appreciation for his ethical obligations (T. 88), and showed remorse (T. 91). When asked what effect Fertig's suspension would have, Spucci responded:

"I feel his reputation and his presence is critical in controlling the various multi-faceted parties that we deal with. We are not able to see a cohesiveness without his presence and his controlling these parties. It would be disastrous in terms of the negative outflow of cash" (T. 91).

Henry Heath, a priest, expressed the community's sentiments, stating that Fertig's reputation and integrity in the community was without any qualifications "as good as it can be"(T. 123).

Although the Referee found that Fertig had been totally and completely rehabilitated, he nonetheless recommended a one-year suspension. We are not left to wonder what purpose this suspension would serve; the Referee specifically sets forth that the two-fold purpose of the discipline is for punishment for the acts committed and as a deterrent to others. (RR-2)

In coming to this conclusion, the Referee ignored well-settled law which clearly states that: "Disciplinary or disbarment proceedings are <u>solely</u> for the purpose of purging the role of legal practitioners of unworthy or disreputable members and **not** for the purpose of punishment for any malfeasance or dereliction of duty, and <u>no</u> fine,

imprisonment or **other punitive sentence** can be imposed. The Florida Bar v. King, 174 So.2d 398 at 403 (Fla. 1965), citing State ex rel. The Florida Bar v. Rubin, 142 So.2d 65 (Fla. 1962). In seeking to punish Respondent, the Referee lost sight of the goal to be accomplished and went far afield in his determination to make an example of Mr. Fertig.

An extensive review of this Court's opinions in disciplinary matters leads to the inescapable conclusion that nowhere is punishment for punishment's sake permitted by the Bar rules or applicable case law.

The Florida Bar cannot seriously suggest that it truly believes Respondent's continued practice of law constitutes a danger to society. Had the Bar believed Respondent's continued practice posed any threat whatsoever, surely it would have moved more quickly in an effort to eradicate the danger (either permanently or temporarily, but definitely more swiftly!) Although the Bar was empowered to suspend Fertig automatically upon his pleading nolo to the charges, it chose not to exercise this option (T. 57). It is difficult to accept that the caretaker of the public trust knowingly allowed an unfit person to practice law for nine (9) years while taking no action. The fact that the Bar now advocates Respondent's suspension under the guise of protecting the public is equally unacceptable.

The focus of a disciplinary proceeding should be to gauge an individual's present fitness to practice law, and not to judge the criminality of his prior acts or to inflict punishment for them. <u>State v. Rendina</u>, 467 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1985). Notwithstanding the foregoing, both The Florida Bar and the Referee desire to punish Respondent

Fertig unde the ostensible guis of deterring others in the future. The stated goal might seem more plausible under other circumstances, but is untenable under this set of facts. It requires a great stretch of the imagination to believe that punishing Fertig now for acts which occurred almost ten years ago would have any deterrent effect whatsoever. In fact, it is more likely that such punishment would discourage cooperation by attorneys and would undermine public confidence.

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